
         

 

 

BLUE LAKE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 

LEE COUNTY 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

JULY 9, 2024 
3:00 P.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special District Services, Inc. 
The Oaks Center 

2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.bluelakecdd.org 
561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free 
561.630.4923 Facsimile 



AGENDA 
BLUE LAKE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
WildBlue Social Building 

18721 WildBlue Boulevard 
Fort Myers, Florida 33913 

Call-In Phone:  877-402-9753  Passcode: 1811087 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

August 13, 2024 
3:00 P.M. 

 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication………………………………………………………………………………..Page 1 

C. Consider Appointment to Board Vacancy in Seat 4……………………………………………….Page 3 

D. Administer Oath of Office and Review Board Member Duties and Responsibilities 

E. Establish Quorum 

F. Additions or Deletions to Agenda 

G. Approval of Minutes  

1. June 11, 2024 Regular Board Meeting…………………………………………………………Page 7 

H. Old Business 

I. New Business 

1. Presentation of Cummins Cederberg Lake Bank Repair Report……………………………….Page 12 

2. Consider Resolution No. 2024-05 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Meeting Schedule…..Page 53 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2024-06 – Adopting Goals and Objectives………………………….Page 55 

J. Public Hearing 

1. Proof of Publication…………………………………………………………………………….Page 58 

2. Receive Public Comments on Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Final Budget 

3. Consider Resolution No. 2024-07 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Final Budget………..Page 60 

4. Consider Resolution No. 2024-08 – Adopting an Annual Assessment Resolution Fiscal 
Year 2024/2025………………………………………………………………………………...Page 68 

K. Administrative Matters 

1. Manager’s Report 

 Financials…………………………………………………………………………………...Page 71 

2. Engineer’s Report 

3. Attorney’s Report 

L. Comments from the Public for Items Not on the Agenda 

M. Board Members Comments 

N. Adjourn 



Publication Date
2024-07-24

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

View original �le 
Keywords:
Notice of Public Hearing & Reg Board Mtg of August 13, 2023

Page 1



Publication Date
2024-07-31

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE ADOPTION OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2025 PROPOSED
BUDGET(S); AND NOTICE OF REGULAR BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING.
The Board of Supervisors (Board) of the Blue Lake Community Development District (District) will hold a
public hearing and regular meeting as follows:
DATE: August 13, 2024
TIME: 3:00 p.m.
LOCATION: WildBlue Social Building
18721 WildBlue Boulevard
Fort Myers, Florida 33913
The purpose of the public hearing is to receive comments and objections on the adoption of the Districts
proposed budget(s) for the �scal year beginning October 1, 2024, and ending September 30, 2025 (Proposed
Budget). A regular Board meeting of the District will also be held at the above time where the Board may
consider any other business that may properly come before it. A copy of the agenda and Proposed Budget
may be obtained at the o�ces of the District Manager, c/o Special District Services, 2501A Burns Road, Palm
Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, Ph: 561-630-4922 (District Managers O�ce), during normal business hours, or
by visiting the Districts website at www.bluelakecdd.org.
The public hearing and meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the
provisions of Florida law. The public hearing and/or meeting may be continued in progress to a date, time
certain, and place to be speci�ed on the record at the public hearing and/or meeting. There may be occasions
when Board Supervisors or District Staff may participate by speaker telephone.
Any person requiring special accommodations at the public hearing or meeting because of a disability or
physical impairment should contact the District Managers O�ce at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the
public hearing and meeting. If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by
dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District Managers
O�ce.
Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at
the public hearing or meeting is advised that person will need a record of proceedings and that accordingly,
the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and
evidence upon which such appeal is to be based.
District Manager
BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
www.bluelakecdd.org
July 31, 202410418945

Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



From: Karla Rapponotti <karlarapponotti@gmail.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, June 12, 2024 9:23 AM 
To: Kathleen Meneely <kmeneely@sdsinc.org> 
Cc: Markrapponotti@aol.com 
Subject: Blue Lake CCD Board 
 
Ms. Kathleen Meneely 
District Manager 
Board of Supervisors 
Blue Lake Community Development District 
 
Re Candidacy for Land Owner Seat #4  
 
Good afternoon Kathleen 
 
Please accept this letter and the attached resume regarding my candidacy for Seat #4 on the Blue Lake CDD Board. 
Beyond my experience regarding insurance coverage matters and complex architects & engineers litigation, I also  served 
on the Board of Directors of 653 North Kingsbury. It is a 125 unit condominium association in Chicago.  I am a full time 
resident of the Vista Blue community having relocated here in May 2023. 
 
I am confident that I have the background and experience to be an addition to the current board regarding challenges that 
face the community. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you 
 
Regards 
 
Mark  
 
Mark S. Rapponotti 
14667 Blue Bay Circle 
Ft. Myers, Fl 33913 
 
(312) 805-2433    

 

Page 6



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT  

REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
JUNE 11, 2024 

 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The June 11, 2024, Regular Board Meeting of the Blue Lake Community Development District (the 
“District”) was called to order at 3:02 p.m. in the WildBlue Social Building located at 18721 WildBlue 
Boulevard, Fort Myers, Florida 33966. 
 
Ms. Meneely advised that she had received a resignation from Tommy Dean of Seat #5. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Hasty and passed on a vote of 2 to 0 accepting 
the resignation of Tommy Dean. 
 
Mr. Haber stated that in order to have a meeting, 3 Supervisors would need to be present so the remaining 
Board Members would need to appoint a third member. 
 
Mr. Edwards made a motion, seconded by Mr./Hasty and passed unanimously appointing Matthew 
Shorey to Seat #5. 
 
Ms. Meneely then administered the oath of office to Mr. Shorey and Mr. Haber went over the 
responsibilities and laws concerning Board membership. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented which showed that notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the Naples Daily News on May 31, 2024, as legally required.  
 
C.  ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Board Members constituted a quorum: 
 
Chairman Chris Hasty  Present 
Vice Chairman Scott Edwards  Present 
Supervisor Matthew Shorey  Present 
Supervisor Vacant  
Supervisor Vacant  

 
Also present were the following Staff Members: 
 
District Manager Kathleen Meneely Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Wes Haber (via phone) Kutak Rock LLP 
District Engineer Frank Savage Barraco and Associates, Inc. 

 
Also present were Chris Fiore & David Furley of Gurley Fant (via phone) and Jeff Walker of Special 
District Services, Inc. (also present via phone). 
 

Page 7



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

Also present were the following District residents:  Mark Rapponotti, Bob McCormick, Janine Black, 
Marc & Sydell Nusbaum, Robert Kudlacik, Chad Culvahouse, Paul Thell, Steve Hamburger, Jim 
Spaulding, Lisa Tilson, Stephanie Vitron and Linda Jones. 
 
District residents present via phone were Amy Leach, Greg Miholic, Dave Bello and others. 
 
D.  ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
Ms. Meneely asked that Mr. Shorey be designated as an Assistant Secretary. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Hasty and passed unanimously designating Mr. 
Shorey as Assistant Secretary. 
 
Ms. Meneely requested that the presentation from Gurley Fant (H1) be considered first and it was the 
consensus of the Board to do so. 
 
E.  COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
Mr. McCormick asked who was in charge of taking out fish, as he saw residents shocking and putting 
fish back into the lake, assuming they were trying to get trophy fish.  He stated that someone in a fishing 
group told the club to do this by an environmental group.  Mr. Hasty stated that neither this Board nor 
Wild Blue CDD had been asked about stocking or shocking fish in the lake.  Mr. McCormick asked if 
this would need to go through the CDD and if the lake is a catch and release body to which Mr. Edwards 
responded in the affirmative to both questions.  Dr. Hamburger stated that he thought it was against 
Florida law to move fish from one lake to another.   
 
F. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 1.  May 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting 
 
The minutes of the May 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting were presented for consideration. 
 
Mr. Hasty noted that on Page 3 of the minutes, item I1, Cederberg Cummins should be Cummins 
Cederberg. 
 
A motion was then made by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Hasty and passed unanimously approving 
the minutes of the May 14, 2024, Regular Board Meeting, as amended. 
 
G. OLD BUSINESS 
 
There were no Old Business items to come before the Board. 
 
H.  NEW BUSINESS 
  1.  Gurley Fant Construction Litigation Attorney Research Update 
 
Mr. Gurley presented their preliminary opinion as to the statute of limitations for claims based on alleged 
defects in the retaining wall and littoral shelf within the District.  He stated his opinion, based on the 
review of documents, plans, e-mails and photos that the courts would interpret the wall’s failure during 
Hurricane Ian as a latent defect, meaning the CDD would not have discovered any defect prior to the 

Page 8



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

storm.  He continued that the stature of limitations for a latent defect runs from the time the defect is 
discovered which would be the September 2022 storm or later, when the engineer reports were obtained.   
Mr. Haber stated that there had been discussion on plat versus deed and Gurley Fant will have a real 
estate attorney brought in to research this area under their Gurley Fant’s umbrella.  Mr. Gurley explained 
that they were construction attorneys and the opinion on this issue would come from a real estate lawyer.   
 
   2.  Update on Cummins Cederberg Lake Bank Repair Report 
 
Mr. Edwards advised that there was no formal update as the report had yet to be received by the District.  
Mr. Savage stated that Cummins Cederberg was working with the Blue Lake CDD as well as Wild Blue 
CDD.  He added that Wild Blue CDD had received a draft and he anticipated similarities in the two 
reports.  Mr. Hasty added that in Wild Blue, the report included seven different options, each varying in 
harding and the wave energy that could be handled.  He continued that in Wild Blue’s report, the 
proposed costs assumed 100% replacement at a cost of $50 Million or $2,000 per linear foot.  Mr. Hasty 
stated that he believed this is too high, as it does not make sense to make repairs or replace where not 
necessary.   He added that he intends to challenge the engineer when he is back in the office from an 
overseas trip.  He also stated that the CDD’s engineer, Barraco & Associates, were working with 
Cummins Cederberg and sending cross sections to contractors to get an idea what they would charge for 
that type of repair.  Mr. Edwards indicated that it sounded like the Wild Blue report was based on repairs 
to the entire lake and at the most extreme cost and Mr. Hasty agreed.   Mr. Savage opined that he had 
reviewed the Wild Blue draft report and did not believe 100% replacement was an appropriate solution 
and he hopes to see changes incorporated into the Blue Lake CDD report once completed. 
 
Ms. Vitron asked about fetch and if a storm could come from the other direction.  Mr. Edwards responded 
that the fetch was being looked at overall, no matter what the wind direction is.  Mr. Hasty added that 
where the area is located in the State, it makes it difficult to get wind in a different direction, explaining 
the way storms hit the area.  Dr. Hamburger asked how many linear feet there were in Vista Blue and 
Mr. Savage responded 3,500 feet whereas Wild Blue has 12,000 feet so Blue Lake CDD is a quarter of 
the Wild Blue estimate. 
 
  3.  Consider Resolution No. 2024-04 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Proposed Budget 
 
Resolution No. 2024-04 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2024-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE LAKE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPROVING A PROPOSED 
BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 AND SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING 
THEREON PURSUANT TO FLORIDA LAW; ADDRESSING TRANSMITTAL, 
POSTING AND PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS; ADDRESSING 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
Mr. Walker stated that an assessment increase was required primarily due to the creation of a 
maintenance reserve in the amount of $50,000 and addressing deficit funding from last year.  Ms. 
Meneely added that Supervisor stipends were added in case the new resident Board Members want to 
receive them.  She continued that legal services were also increasing, not for day-to-day legal expenses, 
but if Gurley Fant or other outside legal opinions are necessary.  Mr. Haber went over the budgeting 
process, noting that the budget could be lowered at the public hearing, but not raised.  Mr. Hasty stated 

Page 9



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

that the net increase was $270 per unit for O&M and an audience member stated it came to 8.7%. Mr. 
Edwards added that the increase was the same for every lot size.   
 
Ms. Leach asked if it ends up that Lennar is responsible for the wall, will expenses will be reimbursed.  
Mr. Haber stated that any party in litigation can ask to recover amounts and use funds to offset future 
assessments.  He added that settlement discussions on damages would be taken into consideration.  
 
A motion was made by Mr. Edwards, seconded by Mr. Hasty and passed unanimously adopting 
Resolution No. 2024-04, as presented, setting the Public Hearing for August 13, 2024, at 3:00 p.m. 
 
I. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
  1.  Manager’s Report 

 
 Financials 

  
Ms. Meneely went over the financials.  Mr. Hasty asked if all revenue was in to which Mr. Walker 
responded that close to 100% had been received. 
 
Ms. Meneely advised that the Board vacancy announcement had been sent to the HOA and she 
anticipated presenting applications at the July meeting. 
 
Ms. Meneely reminded the Board that their next meeting was scheduled for July 9, 2024, at 3:00 p.m. 
 
 2.  Engineer’s Report 
 
Mr. Savage had nothing further to report at this time. 
 
 3.  Attorney’s Report 
 
Mr. Haber stated that he received a question from Mr. Miholic regarding land ownership for purposes of 
the landowner election.  He added that the lake and preserve property was greater than the number of 
lots so the landowner controls the outcome of that election.   
 
J. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further comments from Board Members. 
 
K. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by Mr. Shorey, seconded 
by Mr. Edwards and passed unanimously adjourning the Regular Board Meeting at 4:11 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 

Page 10



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
________________________________   _________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary     Chairperson/Vice-Chair 
 
 
 

Page 11



Alternatives Analysis 
Report

Blue Lake Shoreline 
Stabilization

Prepared for:
Blue Lake Community 
Development District

Cummins Cederberg, Inc.

CumminsCederberg.com

Page 12



Alternatives Analysis Report

Blue Lake Shoreline Stabilization

Blue Lake Community Development District

Version

Page 13



i

CONTENTS 
1 Introduction.............................................................................................................. 3 

  
  
  
  
  

2 Engineering Considerations ................................................................................. 12 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  
  

3 Environmental Permitting Considerations .......................................................... 26 
  
  

  
  
  
  

4 Opinion of Probable Cost...................................................................................... 34 

5 Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................... 36 

6 References ............................................................................................................. 40 

APPENDICES 

 

Page 14



ii

LIST OF FIGURES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LIST OF PHOTOS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



3

 
 
 
Blue Lake Shoreline Stabilization 
Alternatives Analysis
Fort Myers, Florida 
June 28, 2024 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 General 

1.2 Project Introduction 

Figure 1 Figure 2)

Page 16



4

Figure 1.

1.3 Objective 

N

Page 17



5

Figure 2.

1.4 Existing Conditions 

Photo 1

N

N

Page 18



6

Photo 2

Photo 3

Photo 1.

Page 19



7

Photo 2.

Photo 3.

Page 20



8

Photo 4

Photo 5

Photo 6

Photo 4.

Page 21



9

Photo 5.

Photo 6.

Page 22



10

1.5 Property Ownership 

(Photo 7)

Page 23



11

Photo 7.

 

Page 24



12

2 ENGINEERING CONSIDERATIONS 

2.1 Shoreline Stabilization Alternatives 

Appendix A.

Photo 8

Page 25



13

Photo 8.

Photo 9.

Page 26



14

2.1.1 Unstabilized Shoreline 

2.1.2 Re-Graded Shoreline 

2.1.3 Added Fill Shoreline 

2.1.4 Erosion Control Mats 

Page 27



15

Photo 10

Photo 10.

2.1.5 Geocells 

Photo 11

Page 28



16

Photo 11.

2.1.6 Erosion Control Socks 

Photo 12

Page 29



17

Photo 12.

2.1.7 Modular Block Wall 

Photo 13

Page 30



18

Photo 13.

2.1.8 Retaining Wall with Toe Stone

Photo 14

Page 31



19

Figure 3

Photo 14.

Page 32



20

Figure 3.

2.1.9 Revetment 

Photo 15

Page 33



21

Photo 15.

2.1.10 Living Shoreline 

Photo 16

Page 34



22

Photo 16.

2.2 Additional Considerations

2.2.1 Extreme Events 

Page 35



23

2.2.2 Wildlife Safety 

2.2.3 Constructability 

2.2.4 Wind Fetch 

Figure 4

Appendix A: Sheet F-2)

Page 36



24

Figure 4.

Page 37



25

Table 1.

Fetch ID Distance (ft) 25-Year Storm 
(4% Chance Per Year) 

50-Year Storm 
(2% Chance Per Year) 

100-Year Storm 
(1% Chance Per Year) 

  Wave Height (ft) Wave Period (s) Wave Height (ft) Wave Period (s) Wave Height (ft) Wave Period (s) 

1 5,895 1.56 2.26 1.56 2.40 1.56 2.55 

2 5,224 1.56 2.17 1.56 2.31 1.56 2.45 

3 5,220 1.56 2.17 1.56 2.31 1.56 2.45 

4 2,870 1.56 1.78 1.56 1.89 1.56 2.01 

5 1,724 1.44 1.50 1.56 1.59 1.56 1.69 

6 2,673 1.56 1.73 1.56 1.84 1.56 1.96 

7 3,124 1.56 1.83 1.56 1.94 1.56 2.07

Table 2.
Return Period, Years Wind Speed (mph) 

25  
(4% Chance Per Year) 69.53 

50 
(2% Chance Per Year) 80.59 

100  
(1% Chance Per Year) 93.10 

 

Page 38



26

3 ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITTING CONSIDERATIONS 

3.1 Existing Resources  

Photo 17

Photo 18 Table 3

Photo 17.

Page 39



27

Photo 18.

Table 3.
Scientific Name Common Name Location

Figure 5

Page 40



28

Figure 5.

3.2 Environmental Permitting

Page 41



29

3.2.1 Federal Permitting 

Figure 5.

3.2.2 State Permitting 

Page 42



30

Appendix B

3.2.3 Lee County 

Page 43



31

o

o

o

Appendix C

Page 44



32

Figure 6

Figure 6.

Page 45



33

3.2.4 Permitting Timelines 

Page 46



34

4 OPINION OF PROBABLE COST 

Table 
4. 

Appendix A: Sheet F-2

Page 47



35

Table 4.

Option Stabilization Method
Cost 

(Per LF) 

Production Rate 
(LF/Week) 

Table 5.

Stabilization Method 
Extent of Application 

(LF)
Total Cost 

Page 48



36

5 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Page 49



37

Table 6

Table 6.

Method Benefits Drawbacks 

Existing 
Conditions

Re-graded 
Shoreline

Added Fill 
Shoreline

Page 50



38

Table 6. 

Method Benefits Drawbacks 

Concrete 
Erosion 

Control Mat

Geocells

Erosion 
Control 
Socks

Living 
Shoreline

Modular 
Block Wall

Retaining 
Wall

Page 51



39

Table 6.

Method Benefits Drawbacks 

Rock 
Revetment

Page 52



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-05 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE 
LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, ESTABLISHING 
A REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 
AND SETTING THE TIME AND LOCATION OF SAID DISTRICT 
MEETINGS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary for the Blue Lake Community Development District 

("District") to establish a regular meeting schedule for fiscal year 2024/2025; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District has set a regular meeting schedule, 

location and time for District meetings for fiscal year 2024/2025 which is attached hereto and 

made a part hereof as Exhibit “A”. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

OF THE BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT, LEE COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. The above recitals are hereby adopted. 

 
Section 2. The regular meeting schedule, time and location for meetings for fiscal 

year 2024/2025 which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted and authorized to be 

published. 

 
PASSED, ADOPTED AND EFFECTIVE THIS 13th DAY OF AUGUST, 2024. 

 

 
ATTEST: BLUE LAKE 
 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
By:                                                                       By:                
 Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chairperson/Vice Chairperson 
 

Page 53



 
 

BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE 

 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Supervisors of the Blue Lake Community 
Development District will hold Regular Board Meetings at the WildBlue Social Building, 18721 
WildBlue Boulevard, Fort Myers, Florida 33913 at 3:00 p.m. on the following dates: 
 

October 8, 2024 
November 12, 2024 
December 10, 2024 
January 14, 2025 

February 11, 2025 
March 11, 2025 

April 8, 2025 
May 13, 2025 
June 10, 2025 
July 8, 2025 

August 12, 2025 
September 9, 2025 

 
The purpose of the meetings is to conduct any business coming before the Board.  Meetings are 
open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Florida law.  Copies 
of the Agendas for any of the meetings may be obtained from the District’s website or by contacting 
the District Manager at 239-444-5790 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922 prior to the date of the 
particular meeting. 
 
From time to time one or two Supervisors may participate by telephone; therefore, a speaker 
telephone will be present at the meeting location so that Supervisors may be fully informed of the 
discussions taking place.  Said meeting(s) may be continued as found necessary to a time and place 
specified on the record.  
 
If any person decides to appeal any decision made with respect to any matter considered at these 
meetings, such person will need a record of the proceedings and such person may need to insure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made at his or her own expense and which record 
includes the testimony and evidence on which the appeal is based. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring 
special accommodations or an interpreter to participate at any of these meetings should contact the 
District Manager at 239-444-5790 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922 at least seven (7) days prior to 
the date of the particular meeting. 
 
Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 
 
BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
www.bluelakecdd.org 
 
PUBLISH:  NAPLES DAILY NEWS  
 

Page 54



RESOLUTION 2024-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE 
LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT ADOPTING 
GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND 
STANDARDS; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Blue Lake Community Development District (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government organized and existing under and pursuant to Chapter 2007-
309, Laws of Florida, and Chapters 189 and 298, Florida Statutes, as amended; and 
 
 WHEREAS, effective July 1, 2024, the Florida Legislature adopted House Bill 7013, 
codified as Chapter 2024-136, Laws of Florida (“HB 7013”) and creating Section 189.0694, 
Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to HB 7013 and Section 189.0694, Florida Statutes, beginning 
October 1, 2024, the District shall establish goals and objectives for the District and create 
performance measures and standards to evaluate the District’s achievement of those goals and 
objectives; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Manager has prepared the attached goals, objectives, and 
performance measures and standards and presented them to the Board of the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”) finds that it is in the best 
interests of the District to adopt by resolution the attached goals, objectives and performance 
measures and standards. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

  
 SECTION 1. The recitals so stated are true and correct and by this reference are 
incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Board of Supervisors hereby adopts the goals, objectives and 
performance measures and standards as provided in Exhibit A. The District Manager shall take 
all actions to comply with Section 189.0694, Florida Statutes, and shall prepare an annual report 
regarding the District’s success or failure in achieving the adopted goals and objectives for 
consideration by the Board of the District.  
 
 SECTION 3.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 
 

Page 55



 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 13th day of August, 2024.  
 
 
ATTEST:     BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
 
 
             
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairman, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Exhibit A: Performance Measures/Standards and Annual Reporting 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 56



Exhibit A 

Program/Activity:   District Administration 
Goal:    Remain compliant with Florida Law for all district meetings 
Objectives:    

 Notice all District regular, special, and public hearing meetings 
 Conduct all post-meeting activities  
 District records retained in compliance with Florida Sunshine Laws 

Performance Measures: 

 All Meetings publicly noticed as required (yes/no) 
 Meeting minutes and post-meeting action completed (yes/no) 
 District records retained as required by law (yes/no)     

Program/Activity:   District Finance 
Goal:    Remain Compliant with Florida Law for all district financing activities 
Objectives:     

 District adopted fiscal year budget 
 District amended budget at end of fiscal year 
 Process all District finance accounts receivable and payable 
 Support District annual financial audit activities 

Performance Measures: 

 District adopted fiscal year budget (yes/no) 
 District amended budget at end of fiscal year (yes/no) 
 District accounts receivable/payable processed for the year (yes/no) 
  “No findings” for annual financial audit (yes/no) 

o If “yes” explain 

Program/Activity:   District Operations 
Goal:    Insure, Operate and Maintain District owned Infrastructure & assets 
Objectives:     

 Annual renewal of District insurance policy(s) 
 Contracted Services for District operations in effect 
 Compliance with all required permits 

Performance Measures: 

 District insurance renewed and in force (yes/no) 
 Contracted Services in force for all District operations (yes/no) 
 Permits in compliance (yes/no) 

Page 57



Publication Date
2024-07-24

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

View original �le 
Keywords:
Notice of Public Hearing & Reg Board Mtg of August 13, 2023

Page 58

https://dgfc4k3gho5kh.cloudfront.net/63/10870763.pdf
https://dgfc4k3gho5kh.cloudfront.net/63/10870763.pdf


Publication Date
2024-07-31

Subcategory
Miscellaneous Notices

BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER THE ADOPTION OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2025 PROPOSED
BUDGET(S); AND NOTICE OF REGULAR BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING.
The Board of Supervisors (Board) of the Blue Lake Community Development District (District) will hold a
public hearing and regular meeting as follows:
DATE: August 13, 2024
TIME: 3:00 p.m.
LOCATION: WildBlue Social Building
18721 WildBlue Boulevard
Fort Myers, Florida 33913
The purpose of the public hearing is to receive comments and objections on the adoption of the Districts
proposed budget(s) for the �scal year beginning October 1, 2024, and ending September 30, 2025 (Proposed
Budget). A regular Board meeting of the District will also be held at the above time where the Board may
consider any other business that may properly come before it. A copy of the agenda and Proposed Budget
may be obtained at the o�ces of the District Manager, c/o Special District Services, 2501A Burns Road, Palm
Beach Gardens, Florida 33410, Ph: 561-630-4922 (District Managers O�ce), during normal business hours, or
by visiting the Districts website at www.bluelakecdd.org.
The public hearing and meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the
provisions of Florida law. The public hearing and/or meeting may be continued in progress to a date, time
certain, and place to be speci�ed on the record at the public hearing and/or meeting. There may be occasions
when Board Supervisors or District Staff may participate by speaker telephone.
Any person requiring special accommodations at the public hearing or meeting because of a disability or
physical impairment should contact the District Managers O�ce at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the
public hearing and meeting. If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida Relay Service by
dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the District Managers
O�ce.
Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at
the public hearing or meeting is advised that person will need a record of proceedings and that accordingly,
the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and
evidence upon which such appeal is to be based.
District Manager
BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
www.bluelakecdd.org
July 31, 202410418945

Page 59



RESOLUTION 2024-07 
[FY 2025 APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION] 

 
THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATION RESOLUTION OF THE BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) RELATING TO THE ANNUAL APPROPRIATIONS 
AND ADOPTING THE BUDGET(S) FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2024, 
AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2025; AUTHORIZING BUDGET AMENDMENTS; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2024, and ending September 30, 2025 (“FY 
2025”), the District Manager prepared and submitted to the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the Blue 
Lake Community Development District (“District”) prior to June 15, 2024, proposed budget(s) (“Proposed 
Budget”) along with an explanatory and complete financial plan for each fund of the District, pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 190.008(2)(a), Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, at least sixty (60) days prior to the adoption of the Proposed Budget, the District filed 
a copy of the Proposed Budget with the local general-purpose government(s) having jurisdiction over the 
area included in the District pursuant to the provisions of Section 190.008(2)(b), Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board set a public hearing on the Proposed Budget and caused notice of such 
public hearing to be given by publication pursuant to Section 190.008(2)(a), Florida Statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District Manager posted the Proposed Budget on the District’s website in 
accordance with Section 189.016, Florida Statutes; and  

 
 WHEREAS, Section 190.008(2)(a), Florida Statutes, requires that, prior to October 1st of each year, 
the Board, by passage of the Annual Appropriation Resolution, shall adopt a budget for the ensuing fiscal 
year and appropriate such sums of money as the Board deems necessary to defray all expenditures of the 
District during the ensuing fiscal year. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE LAKE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. BUDGET 
 

a.  The Proposed Budget, attached hereto as Exhibit A, as amended by the Board, is hereby 
adopted in accordance with the provisions of Section 190.008(2)(a), Florida Statutes 
(“Adopted Budget”), and incorporated herein by reference; provided, however, that the 
comparative figures contained in the Adopted Budget may be subsequently revised as 
deemed necessary by the District Manager to reflect actual revenues and expenditures. 

 
b.  The Adopted Budget, as amended, shall be maintained in the office of the District 

Manager and at the District’s Local Records Office and identified as “The Budget for the 
Blue Lake Community Development District for the Fiscal Year Ending September 30, 
2025.” 

 

Page 60



c. The Adopted Budget shall be posted by the District Manager on the District’s official 
website in accordance with Section 189.016, Florida Statutes and shall remain on the 
website for at least two (2) years.   

 
 SECTION 2. APPROPRIATIONS 
 
 There is hereby appropriated out of the revenues of the District, for FY 2025, the sum(s) set forth 
in Exhibit A to be raised by the levy of assessments and/or otherwise, which sum is deemed by the Board 
to be necessary to defray all expenditures of the District during said budget year, to be divided and 
appropriated as set forth in Exhibit A. 
  
 SECTION 3. BUDGET AMENDMENTS 
 
 Pursuant to Section 189.016, Florida Statutes, the District at any time within FY 2025 or within 60 
days following the end of the FY 2025 may amend its Adopted Budget for that fiscal year as follows: 
 

a. A line-item appropriation for expenditures within a fund may be decreased or increased 
by motion of the Board recorded in the minutes, and approving the expenditure, if the 
total appropriations of the fund do not increase. 

 
b. The District Manager or Treasurer may approve an expenditure that would increase or 

decrease a line-item appropriation for expenditures within a fund if the total 
appropriations of the fund do not increase and if either (i) the aggregate change in the 
original appropriation item does not exceed the greater of $15,000 or 15% of the original 
appropriation, or (ii) such expenditure is authorized by separate disbursement or 
spending resolution. 

 
c. Any other budget amendments shall be adopted by resolution and consistent with Florida 

law. The District Manager or Treasurer must ensure that any amendments to the budget 
under this paragraph c. are posted on the District’s website in accordance with Section 
189.016, Florida Statutes, and remain on the website for at least two (2) years.   

 
SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 13th DAY OF AUGUST, 2024.  
 

ATTEST:       BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 

 
 
_____________________________          
Secretary / Assistant Secretary    Chair/Vice Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

Exhibit A: FY 2025 Budget 

Page 61



  Blue Lake
 Community Development District

       Final Budget For
      Fiscal Year 2024/2025

      October 1, 2024 - September 30, 2025

Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



RESOLUTION 2024-08 
[FY 2025 ASSESSMENT RESOLUTION] 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR FUNDING FOR THE FY 2025 ADOPTED 
BUDGET(S); PROVIDING FOR THE COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT OF SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO PENALTIES AND INTEREST THEREON; 
CERTIFYING AN ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING FOR AMENDMENTS TO THE 
ASSESSMENT ROLL; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Blue Lake Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, for the purpose of providing, 
operating and maintaining infrastructure improvements, facilities and services to the lands within the 
District, located in Lee County, Florida (“County”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has constructed or acquired various infrastructure improvements and 
provides certain services in accordance with the District’s adopted capital improvement plan and Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2024, and ending September 30, 2025 (“FY 
2025”), the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) of the District has determined to undertake various operations 
and maintenance and other activities described in the District’s budget (“Adopted Budget”), attached 
hereto as Exhibit A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, the District may fund the Adopted Budget 
through the levy and imposition of special assessments on benefitted lands within the District and, 
regardless of the imposition method utilized by the District, under Florida law the District may collect such 
assessments by direct bill, tax roll, or in accordance with other collection measures provided by law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in order to fund the District’s Adopted Budget, the District’s Board now desires to 
adopt this Resolution setting forth the means by which the District intends to fund its Adopted Budget. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE BLUE LAKE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. FUNDING.  The District’s Board hereby authorizes the funding mechanisms for the 

Adopted Budget as provided further herein and as indicated in the Adopted Budget attached hereto as 
Exhibit A and the assessment roll attached hereto as Exhibit B (“Assessment Roll”). 

 
2. OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE ASSESSMENTS. 

 
a. Benefit Findings. The provision of the services, facilities, and operations as 

described in Exhibit A confers a special and peculiar benefit to the lands within 
the District, which benefit exceeds or equals the cost of the assessments. The 
allocation of the assessments to the specially benefitted lands is shown in Exhibit 
A and Exhibit B and is hereby found to be fair and reasonable. 
 

Page 68



b. O&M Assessment Imposition. Pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, a 
special assessment for operations and maintenance (“O&M Assessment(s)”) is 
hereby levied and imposed on benefitted lands within the District and in 
accordance with Exhibit A and Exhibit B. The lien of the O&M Assessments 
imposed and levied by this Resolution shall be effective upon passage of this 
Resolution.  

 
c. Maximum Rate. Pursuant to Section 197.3632(4), Florida Statutes, the lien 

amount shall serve as the “maximum rate” authorized by law for operation and 
maintenance assessments. 

 
3. DEBT SERVICE SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.  The District’s Board hereby certifies for collection 

the FY 2025 installment of the District’s previously levied debt service special assessments 
(“Debt Assessments,” and together with the O&M Assessments, the “Assessments”) in 
accordance with this Resolution and as further set forth in Exhibit A and Exhibit B, and 
hereby directs District staff to affect the collection of the same. 
 

4. COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT; PENALTIES; INTEREST.  Pursuant to Chapter 190, 
Florida Statutes, the District is authorized to collect and enforce the Assessments as set 
forth below. 
 

a. Tax Roll Assessments.  To the extent indicated in Exhibit A and Exhibit B, those 
certain O&M Assessments (if any) and/or Debt Assessments (if any) imposed on 
the “Tax Roll Property” identified in Exhibit B shall be collected by the County 
Tax Collector at the same time and in the same manner as County property taxes 
in accordance with Chapter 197, Florida Statutes (“Uniform Method”). That 
portion of the Assessment Roll which includes the Tax Roll Property is hereby 
certified to the County Tax Collector and shall be collected by the County Tax 
Collector in the same manner and time as County property taxes. The District’s 
Board finds and determines that such collection method is an efficient method of 
collection for the Tax Roll Property. 

 
b. Future Collection Methods.  The District’s decision to collect Assessments by any 

particular method – e.g., on the tax roll or by direct bill – does not mean that such 
method will be used to collect special assessments in future years, and the District 
reserves the right in its sole discretion to select collection methods in any given 
year, regardless of past practices.   

 
5. ASSESSMENT ROLL; AMENDMENTS.  The Assessment Roll, attached hereto as Exhibit B, 

is hereby certified for collection. The Assessment Roll shall be collected pursuant to the collection 
methods provided above.  The proceeds therefrom shall be paid to the District.  The District Manager shall 
keep apprised of all updates made to the County property roll by the Property Appraiser after the date of 
this Resolution and shall amend the Assessment Roll in accordance with any such updates, for such time 
as authorized by Florida law, to the County property roll.   
 

6. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of this 
Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this Resolution, or 
any part thereof. 

Page 69



 
7. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon the passage and adoption of this 

Resolution by the Board. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 13th day of August, 2024. 

 
ATTEST:       BLUE LAKE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
 
_____________________________   By:       
Secretary / Assistant Secretary    
       Its:       
 
 
Exhibit A: Budget 
Exhibit B: Assessment Roll  
 

Page 70



 Blue Lake
Community Development District

   Financial Report For
July 2024

Page 71



Page 72



Page 73


	Blue Lake Community Development District - July 9, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Book
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Appointment to Board Vacancy in Seat 4
	June 11, 2024 Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Presentation of Cummins Cederberg Lake Bank Repair Report
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-05 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Meeting Schedule
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-06 – Adopting Goals and Objectives
	Public Hearing
	Proof of Publication
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-07 – Adopting a Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Final Budget
	Consider Resolution No. 2024-08 – Adopting an Annual Assessment Resolution FiscalYear 2024/2025

	Financials




